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RESOLVE REVIVING AND CONTINUING AND
INCREASING THE SCOPE OF THE

SPECIAL COMMISSION.

Ct)c Commontoealtt) of Massachusetts

Chapter

Resolve reviving and continuing and increasing the Scope of
the Special Commission established to study and investigate

Communism and Subversive Activities and Related Matters
in the Commonwealth.

Resolved, That the unpaid special commission established by chapter
eighty-nine of the resolves of nineteen hundred and fifty-three and re-
vived and continued by chapter one hundred and twenty-three of the
resolves of nineteen hundred and fifty-four is hereby revived and con-
tinued for the purpose of continuing its investigation and study of the
extent, character and objects of communism and subversive activities
and related matters within the commonwealth; the diffusion within the
commonwealth of subversive and un-American propaganda that is insti-
gated from foreign countries, or of a domestic origin, and attacks the
principle of the form of government as guaranteed by our constitution
and all other questions in relation thereto that would aid the general
court in enacting any necessary remedial legislation.

Said commission in making its investigation shall consider all the
aspects of such activities, including, but not limiting its investigation
thereto, educational, governmental, industrial and political activities.
Said commission shall, in the course of its investigation and study, con-
sider the subject matter of current house document numbered 140,
relative to candidates for public office making known any communist
affiliation; of current house document numbered 459, relative to disquali-
fying for employment by the commonwealth or of any of its political
subdivisions any officer or employee who refuses to answer certain ques-
tions concerning the conduct of his office or the performance of his duties;
of current house document numbered 1571, relative to registration of
voters in cities and towns, and of current house document numbered
1802, relative to disqualifying for employment by the commonwealth or
any of its subdivisions any person who refuses to answer certain ques-
tions relative to his acts while an official or employee of the common-
wealth or of its subdivisions. Said commission shall be provided with
quarters in the state house or elsewhere, shall hold public hearings, may
travel within and without the commonwealth, may sit during the session
and recess of the general court, may require by summons the attendance
of such witnesses and the production of such books, papers and documents,
and take such testimony as it deems necessary.
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Upon a majority vote of the commission, summonses shall be issued
under the signature of the chairman or vice chairman, and shall be served
by an officer of the general court or by any person designated I
commission. The chairman or any member of the commission
minister oaths to witnesses. Every person who behaves in a disorderly
or contemptuous manner before such commission shall be deemed guilty
af a misdemeanor punishable as provided in section twenty-eight A of
chapter three of the General La

The subject of any investigation in connection with which wit
are summoned shall be clearly stated before the commencement of any

hearings and the evidence sought to be elicited shall be ref
germane to the subject as so stated.

Any witness summoned at a public hearing and any w
ate hearing shall have the right to be accompanied by counsel, who shal

permitted to advise the witness vrhile on the witness stand of his rightsa
Every witness shall have the opportunity at the conclusion of the

examination by the commission to supplement the testimony which 1
has given by making a written or oral statemen
aart of the record, but such statement shall be confined to m w

regard to which he 1
Any person whose name is mentioned or who

and wrho believes that testimony or other evidence given in a pul
ing before the commission or any subcommittee thereof or comment m
by any member of the commission or its cour t

otherwise adversely affects his reputation, sh

(a) He may file with the commission a sworr
ach testimony, evidence or comment, which shall be made part of the

such hearin
b) He may appear personally before the commission and testify in his

bwnb ehalf.
Said cor avestigation, shall have the assistance of

:eneral, the departhe attorney general, the department of education and such
merits, I the state government as

nmission to assist andbe requested t
commission shall report its findings to tl neral court at such

time rna

aineteen hundred and•eport not later than the first
fifty-s

lata avail whc
g the course of the investigatkthe commission, during the cou

evidence that such indiv

in item 0298-00 of section two of chaptf

of the acts of nineteen hundred and fifty-four and such
hereafter be appropriated therefor. Approved M
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To the Honorable Senate and House of Representatives.

The Special Commission on Communism, Subversive
Activities and Related Matters within the Commonwealth
herewith submits its Sixth Interim Report, which is a report
concerning the conduct and testimony before it of Michael
Angelo Russo and the recommendation that he be cited for
contempt.

The Commission was created under a resolve, chapter 89
of 1953, and was revived and continued by chapter 123 of
the Resolves of 1954, and chapters 52 and 129 of the Resolves
of 1955.

Respectfully submitted,

PHILIP G. BOWKER,
Chairman.

JOHN T. TYNAN,
Vice-Chairman

GEORGE W. CASHMAN.
JOHN E. POWERS.
ROGER A. SALA.

Che Commontoealth of Massachusetts

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAI



SIXTH INTERIM REPORT OF THE SPECIAL
COMMISSION ON COMMUNISM, SUBVERSIVE
ACTIVITIES AND RELATED MATTERS
WITHIN THE COMMONWEALTH.

January 4, 1956.

To the Honorable Senate and House of Representatives,

Under the authority conferred upon it by chapter 52 of
the Resolves of 1955, the Commission conducted a public
hearing at room 257 of the State House, Boston, on Decem-
ber 7, 1955.

In response to a summons, one Michael Angelo Russo of
566 Blue Hill Avenue, Dorchester, appeared as a witness,
was sworn and testified.

The complete transcript of the testimony of Michael
Angelo Russo follows:

CJ)c Commontoealtf) of Soaosac|nioetts;

Mr. Bresnahan. I call Mr. Michael Russo,
The Chairman. Mr. Russo, come forward. Mr. Russo, I guess you

understand by now this business of photographs. Have you any objec-
tion to a photograph being taken?

The Witness. I don’t have any objection, but I sometimes wonder
about their ultimate disposition, since they appear so infrequently in the
local press. However, be that as it may —■

Michael Russo (Sworn).

The Witness. Mr. Chairman, I have a couple of procedural questions
I would like to ask.

Mr. Bresnahan. May he first be identified for the record?
The Chairman. Identify yourself for the record first.
Q. jßy Mr. Bresnahan.] What is your name? A. My name

Michael Angelo Russo.
Q. And where do you live? A. I live at 566 Blue Hill Avenue

Dorchester.
Q. And have you counsel here today? A. No, I don’t have counsel
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Q. That is at your own election? A. That is true.
Q. lam going to ask you to tell us, Mr. Russo, where you were born

and what your education consisted of. A. I was born in Bridgeport,
Connecticut, September 12, 1908. My education consisted of the follow-
ing: I attended the elementary schools of Bridgeport, Connecticut.
I was a graduate of Bridgeport High School. I went to the School of
Fine Arts at Yale University for one year.

Q. And when did you leave the School of Fine Arts at Yale? What
year? A. Approximately 1930.

The Chairman. Mr. Counsel, I think he has identified himself now.
And if he has some motions or something to submit to the Commission,
you may do so, Mr. Russo.

The Witness. I would like to know, Mr. Chairman, in what respect
this hearing is distinguished from the one I previously attended which
presumably was an executive one. Secondly, I would like to know or
have available made available to me a list of the membership of
this Commission, -who they are and whom they represent.

Mr. Bresnahan. Could I answer him?
The Chairman. Our counsel will be pleased to give you answers tc

those questions.
Q. This hearing is an extension of the former hearings of this Com-

mission. The Commission is mandated to hold so many public hearings.
This is one that they have elected to hold. Your second question is as to
the membership. That is a matter of record and can be obtained at the

icretary of State’s office. There are present Representative Randall,
Senator Bowker and Representative Sala sitting now. A. How large is
the Commission?

Q. That you can find out. You are here in response to the summon:
.4. I see.

Q. And that you can learn as easily as any other citizen of the Com-
monwealth. A. In other words, we dispense with even the most ele-
mentary prerequisites of decent human relationships?

Q. Let’s go into the human relationships. A. I merely asked you
how many members were on this Commission, that’s all. Now I have
;ot to wait until I get a piece of literature.
Rep. Randall. You know there
The Witness. I don’t know. I

wen

wouldn’t have asked if I knew. I
;t week and there were seven peopleattended an executive commission 1

sitting out in the audience.
six or seven people sitting before you.
very simple question, what is the size

Rep. Randall. But there were
The Witness. I merely asked
this Commission. That’s all. I am not in the habit of asking questions

with.about things I am already famili
Mr. Bresnahan. May I pro
The Chairman. You may pr

:1 then?
1, Mr. Counsel.

O. Following your course in Fine Arts at Yale in 1930, what occupa
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tion did you pursue? A. I was one of the about sixty million people out
of work.

Q. Did you ever follow the work of an artist? A. I made this in-
formation available to this Commission.

Mr. Bkesnahan. lam going to ask that he answer these questions.
A. You ask the questions and I will answer the questions.

Mr. Bresnahan. I am going to ask that he be ordered to answer
them responsively

The Chairman. Will you answer-
lowed the work of an artist?

that question —if you ever fol-

work of an artist. I tried for the
it honorable mention for a national

The Witness. Yes, I followed the
Prix de Rome back in 1932 and won fir
fellowship.

Q. Where was that? A. That w
York City.

in Grand Central Palace in New

don of an artist anywhere in theQ. Did you ever follow the prof
United States? A. I refuse to account to you for my movements, my
whereabouts, my associations and things having to do with my personal
life that have no relevance so far as this Commission is concerned.

The Chairman. What do you base that on? Any constitutional
guarantee?

The Witness. Yes, I base it on the constitutional guarantees im-
bedded in the Twelfth Article of the Declaration of Rights and the Fifth
Amendment of the Federal Constitution, which, very obviously, this
Commission holds in striking contempt.

Mr. Bresnahan. May the witness be ordered to answer responsively
to the questions, and only responsively to the questions?

The Chairman. You can answer a question “Yes”; you can answer
it “No”; or you can refuse to answer and invoke a guarantee either from
the Massachusetts Bill of Rights or the Federal Constitution. A. I refuse
to co-operate with these star chamber proceedings. I’m sorry.

The Chairman. We understand your attitude quite thoroughly, you
Lan be sure of that

Rep. Randall. Mr. Chairman
The Chairman. Rep. Randall.

sir, we can get along much betterRep. Randall. It seems to m
here if you answer the questions tl
in your answers, but we expect to

we ask. We will give you latitude
treated courteously. We expect to

at

treat you cour
summoned here is the most dis-The Witness. The fact that I

'on’t have any right to bring me hencourteous sort of treatment. You
and put before me the questions th
heart of the matter? You know w

ou are. Why don’t you get to the
ny attitude is.

t

ask that he be ordered not to volun-
■er to the questions, or I am going to

Mr. Bresnahan. lam going tc
teer information other than in ansv
ask this Commission, if he acts cont
him for contempt.

ituously before it, that they certify
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The Witness. lam going to answer the questions to the best of my
ability. lam defending what I consider to be very sacred, Mr. Attorney,
and I am not going to engage in any legal bouts with you.

Mr. Bresnahan. I am going to suggest that his side remarks of
making speeches are contemptuous of this Commission, and I ask that
that be noted in the record.

Q. Now, lam going to ask you
The Chairman. It is so noted.
Q. At any time since you have been a student has there been an

instant that you have not been a member of the Communist Party?
A. If you want to discuss my political views, you adjourn this session
and discuss them.

The Chairman. Sir, will you answer that Yes or No? A. That
question is in violation of the First Amendment of the Constitution of
the United States, and he has no right to ask it and I refuse to answer it
on the grounds that I have already stated, which is Article Twelve and
the Fifth Amendment of the Constitution.

The Chairman. We want no contemptuoui
The Witness. If he can get sanguine with these things, I can.
The Chairman. Will you go ahead and ask questions, Mr. Attorney?
Q. Were you the secretary of the Communist Party in Bridgeport,

Connecticut, before you came to Massachusetts? A. Why don’t you
cut out wasting time?

Mr. Bresnahan. I am going to ask that he be ordered to answer.
A. I decline to answer that question on the grounds I have already
stated.

The Chairman. All right, next question
Q. When did you come to Boston for the first time as a resident?

A. I came to Boston in March, 1951, I believe, or thereabouts.
Q. Where did you take up your residence in March of 1951 when you

came to Boston? A. I took up my residence at 566 Blue Hill Avenue,
and that has been my legal residence since March of 1951.

Q. Were you in residence personally at any time in 1952 at your legal
residence? A. I decline to answer that question, because, in the first
place, it is none of your business. In the second place, I base myself on
the Constitution

Mr. Bresnahan. lam going to ask that he be cited for contempt for
that answer.

The Chairman. It will be noted in the record that he will be cited
in contempt for that answer.

Q. Were you ever in residence personally in your residence on Blue
Hill Avenue in the year 1953? A. I have already answered that question.

Q. In the year 1953 you have not. A. I decline to answer it
Q. On what grounds? A. On the grounds I have already stated
The Chairman. Will both counsel and the witness moderate thei

tone, 'and you give the questions and you will give the answers.
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The Witness. Let him moderate his tone and I will moderate my
tone.

Rep. Randall. Mr. Chairman, I am not the most patient soul in
the world. I tried a second ago to try to ask you to be courteous, and I
said we would be courteous. Now, you are not acting in a courteous
manner here. And I, for one, am not going to sit here and listen to you
go on. Now, if you want to behave before this Commission and answer
our questions as you know you should answer them, I will sit here and
listen to you. Otherwise I certainly am going to vote to turn the matter
over to the courts and ask the courts to hold you in contempt.

The Witness. May 1 make one statement?
The Chairman. You may answer the Commission member.
The Witness. I would like to answer that. If by “behavior” you

mean I must conform to a certain distorted line of inquiry that counsel
for this Commission is putting forth, then I am afraid, sir, that I cannot
behave as you wish.

Rep. Randall. I mean, sir, that you are to answer the questions in
a relevant, courteous manner.

The Witness. Well, I will do that, provided that they be propounded
to me in that manner.

Q. Were you in 1954 ever in residence at 566 Blue Hill Avenue in
Roxbury? A. I decline to answer that question on the grounds I have
already stated.

Q. When was the first time in 1955 that you ever were in residence
,t 566 Blue Hill Avenue? A. I decline to answer that question on the

grounds that I have already state
Q. Were you underground, as the term is used of prominent Com-

munist leaders who seek to evade identification, from the year 1951
A. Is that a question?

Q. That is a question. until the fall of 1955? A. That is what
you call one of those loaded questions. That is no question, Mr. Counsel.

Rep. Randall. Will you read the question?
[The question is read.]

Rep. Randall. I think you have got two questions there.
Mr. Beesnahan. No, I don’t. Was he underground from 1951 to

1955, as that term is understood by Communist members?
The Chairman. Can you give an answer to that? A. I could tell

you a great deal of the underground, but I don’t think it is the type of
underground that either you

Rep. Randall. lam not interested. A. I decline to answer that
question on constitutional grounds.

Q. In 1951 did you succeed Emmanuel Blum as District Organizer
of the Communist Party in New England? A. I decline to answer that
luestion on the grounds already cited.

UCoWUU Oil wxiv, I*l. j

O. As the head of the Communist Party in Massachusetts in 1951, did
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you preside at a banquet to William Z. Foster, the head of the Communist
Party of the United States, in Ruggles Hall, Roxbury? A. Same answer.

Rep. Sala. You mean you refuse to answer on constitutional grounds?
The Witness. Absolutely. I think I would like to make it clear that

any question that has anything to do with my political beliefs or asso-
ciations, I will categorically not answer.

Q. Are you today a paid employee of the Communist Party? A. I
already made my position clear on that question.

The Chairman. Will you answer it, sir? A. On the grounds that
I have already stated, I refuse to answer that question.

Q. When you came to Massachusetts in 1951 were you in the employ
of the Communist Party? A. I fuse to answer that question on tin
grounds that I have already stated,

Q. Are you today in the employ i the Communist Party? A. Same
answer. I refuse to answer on the rounds that I have already stated

Mr. Brbsnahan. I h ter questionsur
The Chairman. Are you now a member of the Communist Party
The Witness. You don’t have the right to ask me that questi

I refuse to answer it anyhow on the grounds I have already stated
The Chairman. Are you aware of the fact that to be a member of

the Communist Party is illegal since 195
The Witness. Is that so?
The Chairman. That i ve have every right to ask ti

question.
The Witness. Well, the validity of that thing is yet to be determine!

by higher bodies than this Council
The Chairman. As of now it is valid until determined by any high

authority. So we have the right to ask that question. Do you still
refuse'

The Witness. I refuse on the grounds I have already stated
The Chairman. Any further questions on the part of me of

the Commission? You may ma a voluntary statement as other wit
luesti •ns and answers given

The Witness. I do, sir, and ti nk you very much for the op]
ould like to make.tunity. I have a brief statement I y

[Readin

For more than twenty years the n f my activity in New England
has been an open book. I have ne~ :r hesitated openly to proclaim my
views. Indeed, I am proud of the Whatever I have done has been
motivated by one aim to help tl people in their struggle for a better
and fuller life. Never have I acte ainst the best interests of m
;ountry, and I do not hesitate to m tch my patriotism with that of any

member of this Commissi'
If I refuse to speak about my bel fs and activitk this body it

is only because I view these entire proceedings as a gross violation of th
Bill of Rights and an unwarranted invasion of my Constitutional libertie
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It’s about time that this Commission, spawned in the era of McCarthy-
ism, was brought to an end.

This committee has not been able to produce a single shred of evidence
of so-called subversion against any of the scores of decent citizens whom
it has hounded over the past several years.

On the contrary, in the view of many, the Commission itself is
perhaps the most subversive institution in the State. The record will
prove that this Commission has demonstrated only contempt for the Bill
of Rights and democratic procedures. The record will show that this
Commission has sided with employers to smash labor unions; it has
created a black-list and caused men and women to be fired from their
jobs. The record will show that this Commission has acted as judge and
jury and condemned people without regard for due process.

From whom has this Commission received aid? From the most de-
spised elements in our society. From such stalwart and irreproachable
champions of democracy as the late and unlamented swindler and army
deserter Teto. Last but not least it has undoubtedly received the expert
advice of that imposter Philbrick whose capacity to pile lie upon lie is
exceeded only by his desire to make a fast buck.

What needs to be investigated are not the many honest men and women
who have been hauled before this committee because thej'’ want a world
in peace, defend the Bill of Rights, and oppose the murderous racist
lynching of the Negro people; but this committee itself.

It would be a good thing for the citizens of the Commonwealth who
cherish our democratic institutions to invite the Senate subcommittee on
Constitutional Rights, headed by Senator Hennings from Missouri, to
review the actions of this Commission to determine the extent to which
this Commission has violated the Bill of Rights. Such an investigation
would go a long way to restore those liberties in our State.

The Chairman. Is that the end of your statement
The Witness. Yes.
The Chairman. Any questions relative to the statement? Have you

any further questions, Mr. Counsel?
Mr. Bresnahan. I move he be excused. If he wishes to accept the

witness fee for this appearance, he may sign the voucher.
The Witness. Yes. And due to a slight misunderstanding last week,
it possible to get that

ign for that appearancThe Chairman. Do you wish t

[Witness signs voucher.]
n will recess until two o’clock.The Chairman. The Commissi'

Noon recess.]

The Commission herewith reports to the General Court
that it considers the conduct of Michael Angelo Russo con-
temptuous and insolent, and that he behaved in a disorderly
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or contemptuous manner before such Commission, for which
lie may be guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable under sec-
tion twenty-eight A of chapter three of the General Laws,
and chapter fifty-two of the resolves of nineteen hundred
and fifty-five.

It reports this matter to the General Court for appropriate
action, and recommends the adoption of an order, attached,
marked Appendix A.
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Senate, January 4, 1956.
Ordered, That the General Court, being of the opinion

that the conduct of Michael Angelo Russo, while testifying
as a witness before the Special Commission to study and
investigate Communism and Subversive Activities and Re-
lated Matters, in the Commonwealth, on the seventh day of
December, nineteen hundred and fifty-five, constituted dis-
orderly and contemptuous behavior, amounting to a mis-
demeanor, recommend that the District Attorney of Suffolk
County proceed forthwith to prosecute said Michael Angelo
Russo for such misdemeanor, pursuant to the provisions
contained in chapter fifty-two of the resolves of nineteen
hundred and fifty-five and section twenty-eight A of chap-
ter three of the General Laws.

Appendix A.

Clic CommontoealtJ) of spassacfmsctts

ORDER.




